2011

Insight Assets, Inc. v. Homero Farias : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) (2010). The Appellant, Insight Assets, Inc., appeals a final order granting Farias' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, denying Insight's Motion for Summary Judgment, and quieting title to Farias.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

POINT I. Did the trial court err by denying Insight's *in rem* foreclosure at summary judgment where undisputed facts demonstrate that Insight's Trust Deed (the Phalen Trust Deed) was a vendor purchase money mortgage, the third party mortgagor had notice of the Phalen Trust Deed, and the obligor defaulted on the Phalen Trust Deed? And where there was never a subordination agreement between the Phalens and FFFC, did the trial court err in finding that the Phalen Trust Deed was subordinate to the FFFC Deed?

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND ISSUE PRESERVATION

“Because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, [appellate courts] give the trial court's legal conclusions no particular deference.”¹

Insight preserved this issue in its motion for summary judgment and memorandum in opposition to Farias' motion for partial summary judgment.²

POINT II. Did the trial court err by determining that Appellant's purchase money trust deed was subject to the operation of Utah's Recording Act?

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND ISSUE PRESERVATION

“Because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, [appellate courts] give the trial court's legal conclusions no particular deference.”³

Insight preserved this issue in its motion for summary judgment and memorandum in opposition to Farias' motion for partial summary judgment.⁴

POINT III. Did the trial court err in determining that Appellee was a bona fide purchaser for value where Appellee had actual and/or constructive notice that the vendor trust deed had not been reconveyed?

¹ *Mast v. Overson*, 971 P.2d 928, 931 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

² R. 000080, 000462.

³ *Mast* at 931.

⁴ R. 000080, 000462.

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND ISSUE PRESERVATION

“Because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, [appellate courts] give the trial court's legal conclusions no particular deference.”⁵

Insight preserved this issue in its motion for summary judgment and memorandum in opposition to Farias' motion for partial summary judgment.⁶

RULES, STATUTES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The following rules, statutes, and constitutional provisions are relevant to the issues on appeal and are attached at ADDENDUM A:

RULES

- Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56.

STATUTES

- Utah Code Ann. § 77-8-1(3).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

- Utah Constitution, Article I, Sections 7.
- United States Constitution, Amendments V and XIV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 19, 2009, Insight filed an *in rem* foreclosure complaint and named Homero Farias as a necessary party, as current occupant of the property.⁷

On January 15, 2010, Farias answered that complaint, and counterclaimed for quiet title, slander of title, and wrongful lien.⁸

⁵ *Mast* at 931.

⁶ R. 000080, 000462.

⁷ R. at 000001.

Insight moved for summary judgment on its complaint on February 9, 2010.⁹ Farias moved to continue Insight's motion pending further discovery.¹⁰ The trial court granted the motion to continue and discovery ensued.¹¹

On September 7, 2010, Farias moved for partial summary judgment on its affirmative defenses and its quiet title counterclaim.¹² The trial court granted Farias' motion for partial summary judgment and denied Insight's summary judgment motion; the court further denied Farias' request for attorney fees.¹³ Farias dismissed with prejudice his remaining counterclaims, II & III, by way of stipulation by the parties.¹⁴

Insight timely filed its Notice of Appeal on December 8, 2010,¹⁵ and Farias cross-appealed the trial court's denial of attorney fees on December 23, 2010.¹⁶

STATEMENT OF FACTS UNDISPUTED BY FARIAS

Insight Assets filed an *in rem foreclosure* action seeking to foreclose on its trust deed against the real property owned by Homero Farias.¹⁷ Insight's trust deed was assigned

⁸ R. 000047.

⁹ R. 000080.

¹⁰ R. 000157.

¹¹ R. 000205.

¹² R. 000316.

¹³ R. 000573, 000580.

¹⁴ R. 000582.

¹⁵ R. 000599.

¹⁶ R. 000605.

¹⁷ R. 000001.

to it by Joseph and Denise Phalen, who owned the property in 2004.¹⁸ The Phalens sold the property to a buyer, and financed a portion of the purchase price.¹⁹ The remaining portion of the purchase price was provided to the buyer by First Franklin Financial Corporation.²⁰ The Phalens secured their loan to the buyer with a vendor trust deed, and First Franklin secured their loan to the buyer with a third party trust deed against the property.²¹ First Franklin and the Phalens knew they were each financing a portion of the property and had knowledge of each other.²²

Both the Phalen Trust Deed and the First Franklin Trust Deed were recorded simultaneously with the other documents evidencing the sale of the property.²³ The Phalen Trust Deed is a vendor purchase money mortgage; the First Franklin Trust deed is a third party purchase money mortgage.²⁴

The buyer defaulted on their obligations under both trust deeds almost immediately, and First Franklin began foreclosing its trust deed less than ten months later.²⁵ First Franklin's interest in the property was conveyed to Wells Fargo Bank via a Trustee's

¹⁸ R. 000080 at ¶¶ 9-10; 000171.

¹⁹ R. 000080 at ¶¶ 6-9; 000047 at ¶¶ 6-7; 000171.

²⁰ R. 000080 at ¶¶ 10-12; 000047 at ¶¶ 10-12; 000171.

²¹ *Id.*

²² R. 0000475-76.

²³ R. 000080 at ¶¶ 6-12; 000047 at ¶¶ 6-12; 000171.

²⁴ R. 000574.

²⁵ R. 000080 at ¶¶ 17-18, 35; 000047 at ¶¶ 17-18; 000171.

Deed on June 14, 2005.²⁶ The Phalen Trust Deed was never reconveyed, and the title record kept at the Weber County Recorder's Office shows that the Phalen Trust Deed still encumbers the property to this day.²⁷

Insight Assets, Inc. acquired the Phalen Trust Deed by assignment from Denise and Joseph Phalen.²⁸ Insight foreclosed on the Phalen Trust Deed immediately by judicial foreclosure.²⁹

The trial court denied Insight's motion for summary judgment and granted Farias' partial motion for summary judgment, finding that Farias was a bona fide purchaser for value, and takes the property free and clear of Insight's lien under the Phalen Trust Deed.³⁰ The trial court found that the Phalen Trust Deed was a vendor purchase money mortgage, but that its priority as a vendor purchase money mortgage was eviscerated by Utah's Recording Statute, and therefore junior to the extinguished First Franklin Trust Deed.³¹

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I. Insight is entitled to summary judgment. Vendors who sell their property and finance all or a portion of the sale are entitled, as a matter of law, to retain a super priority lien status to protect their interest. This is because a third party mortgager, like

²⁶ R. 000080 at ¶ 19; 000047 at ¶ 19; 000171.

²⁷ R. 000080 at ¶¶ 20, ; 000047 at ¶ 19; 000171.

²⁸ R. 000080 at ¶¶ 9-10; 000171.

²⁹ R. 000001; 000080 at ¶¶ 9-10; 000171.

³⁰ R. 000573.

³¹ *Ibid.*

a bank, is only out the money they lent if the buyer defaults, but the vendor is out both her money and her property. To protect these vendors, Utah courts have recognized the priority status these vendor purchase money mortgages have over third party mortgages. Insight holds a vendor purchase money mortgage, and the buyer did default. Yet, the trial court improperly denied Insight's motion. Because Insight's Trust Deed (the Phalen Trust Deed) is a vendor purchase money mortgage, and because FFFC had notice of the Phalen Trust Deed, which was recorded simultaneously with FFFC's Trust Deed, the Phalen Trust Deed was superior to the FFFC *at the time of the FFFC Deed's inception*. And, the Phalens never subordinated their Trust Deed to the FFFC Trust Deed. Accordingly, the foreclosure of the FFFC Trust Deed did not foreclose the senior Phalen Trust Deed. Thus, the Phalen Trust Deed runs with the land, still encumbers the property, and Insight is entitled to judgment allowing it to foreclose on its deed. The court erred in denying Insight's motion for summary judgment, and reversal is warranted.

POINT II. While Utah is a race-notice state, this Court has carved out an exception to Utah's Recording Statute in cases where vendors sell their property and retain an interest; the Court called this exception to the recording act the purchase money mortgage doctrine. The doctrine holds that a vendor purchase money mortgage is superior to a third party purchase money mortgage, regardless of the order in which those mortgages were recorded on title. This common law doctrine is supported by the plain language of the recording statute where it states that it does not affect the validity of documents where the parties have notice. The recording act does not apply to purchase money mortgages where the parties have notice of each other. To hold that the recording act applies to purchase money mortgages would be to eviscerate the doctrine itself. If the

recording act applied to purchase money mortgages, there would be no need for the doctrine – why would this Court create it if the recording act always set forth the order of priority between vendors and third parties? The fact is, this Court specifically carved out an exception to Utah’s recording statute for vendor purchase money mortgages, and the exception applies in all cases where the parties have notice of each other. If the parties to the sale (the buyer, vendor and third party financier) do not have notice of each other, then this Court has held that no purchase money mortgage exists, and the recording act applies. Because FFFC, the Phalens, and the Boecks had notice of each other and by the nature of the sale, the recording act defers, and the Phalen Trust Deed is superior as a matter of law.

POINT III. Farias is not a bona fide purchaser, allowing him to avoid foreclosure. The trial court’s analysis of the bona fide purchaser doctrine and the recording act are incorrect as a matter of law, and the court should reverse on that error alone. Yet the Court can go further in its analysis and find that Farias did have knowledge that the Phalen Trust Deed still encumbered the property. It is undisputed that the Phalen Trust Deed was never reconveyed or otherwise extinguished by documents recorded on title that specifically discussed the Phalen Trust Deed. Because of this, Farias had notice that the Phalen Trust Deed had not been satisfied and still encumbered the property. Yet, Farias assumed, and he readily admits his assumption, that the Phalen Trust Deed had been extinguished under the common law doctrine that holds that junior liens are extinguished by senior liens. And he assumed that the Phalen Trust Deed was junior to the FFFC Deed. However, these assumptions cannot be a bar to Insight’s foreclosure on its deed. That Farias contracted with a title company who literally wrote a book on and

advised its employees about the existence of purchase money mortgages further demonstrates that Farias was aware that the Phalen Trust Deed was superior under this doctrine and still encumbered the property. That is precisely why the title company insures its work – because Farias delegated the task of determining whether the title was free and clear to his agent. As such, Farias must have known about the Phalen Trust Deed, and therefore cannot avoid foreclosure as a bona fide purchaser.

* * *

The trial court committed reversible error on each of these issues, and the Court should further clarify the purchase money mortgage doctrine, and reverse and remand with instructions to the trial court to make findings and conclusions consistent with those holdings.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. The trial court erred in denying Insight's *in rem* foreclosure at summary judgment; undisputed facts established that the Phalen Trust Deed was a vendor purchase money mortgage, and superior to the FFFC trust deed as a matter of law because they were recorded simultaneously and FFFC and Phalen knew of each other's deeds.

William and Roberta Boeck bought property and financed it with two mortgages: one from the seller (vendor) and one from a bank. The Boecks defaulted on both loans and the bank foreclosed on its trust deed. Yet under Utah law, vendor mortgages have first priority regardless of recording order and junior liens cannot foreclose senior liens. Therefore, Insight Assets is entitled to foreclose on the Property because its lien still encumbers the property and is in default.

A. Insight Assets' Vendor Trust Deed is a vendor purchase money mortgage.

Insight Assets' bought the Phalen's purchase money mortgage and steps into their shoes as originator.³² When a property owner sells a property and finances part of the purchase price, he creates a vendor purchase money mortgage. If this property owner assigns his purchase money mortgage, it retains its original status. As the Utah Supreme Court affirmed recently, "the common law puts the assignee in the assignor's shoes, whatever the shoe size."³³

In *Gray v. Kappos*, the Utah Supreme Court held, "A purchase-money mortgage is a mortgage which is given upon the property sold to secure the balance of the purchase price remaining unpaid. It is a debt created by the purchase."³⁴ And although in modern times, trusts – instead of mortgages – are used to finance property, Utah law still recognizes these instruments as purchase money mortgages. In *Nelson v. Stoker*, the Utah Supreme Court wrote "we refer to the term 'purchase money mortgage' as encompassing both mortgages and trust deeds which are given by a vendee to secure a purchase price or unpaid balance."³⁵

Purchase money mortgages come in two flavors: vendor and third-party. When the seller of property finances a portion of the purchase price, a "seller carry-back" mortgage is created. The legal term for this instrument is vendor purchase money mortgage.

³² *Sunridge v. RB&G*, 2010 UT 6, ¶ 13.

³³ *Ibid.*

³⁴ *Gray v. Kappos*, 61 P.2d 613, 615 (Utah 1936).

³⁵ *Nelson v. Stoker*, 669 P.2d 390, 394 (Utah 1983).

When a bank finances a portion of the purchase price, a third-party purchase money mortgage is created.³⁶

William and Roberta Boeck bought property from the Phalens. When they bought the Property, they financed part of the purchase price with the Phalens. This financing between the Boecks and the Phalens created a vendor purchase money mortgage.

1. *The Phalens assigned Insight Assets their vendor purchase money mortgage.*

Here, Insight Assets bought the Phalen's purchase money mortgage.³⁷ Under Utah law, this is still a purchase money mortgage. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103:

- (6) In a transaction other than a consumer-goods transaction, a purchase-money security interest does not lose its status as such, even if:
 - (a) the purchase-money collateral also secures an obligation that is not a purchase-money obligation;
 - (b) collateral that is not purchase-money collateral also secures the purchase-money obligation; or
 - (c) the purchase-money obligation has been renewed, refinanced, consolidated, or restructured.³⁸

Accordingly, although the Vendor Trust Deed changed owners, it retained the same rights, status, and priority.

B. The Phalen Trust Deed is the first priority deed because when vendor trust deeds and third party trust deeds record concurrently, Utah law favors vendors.

³⁶ See Generally *Kemp v. Zions First National Bank*, 470 P.2d 390 (Utah 1970).

³⁷ R. 000080 at ¶ 9; 000171.

³⁸ Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9a-103 (2010).

The Phalen Trust Deed is the first priority lien encumbering this property. Generally, mortgage priority is established by recording order. Yet Utah law recognizes that vendor purchase money mortgages supersede Utah's race-notice statute.

Utah is a race-notice state; usually, the first deed to record is the first deed in priority. Utah Code Ann. § 57-3-103 states:

Each document not recorded as provided in this title is void as against any subsequent purchaser of the same real property, or any portion of it, if:

- (1) the subsequent purchaser purchased the property in good faith and for a valuable consideration; and
- (2) the subsequent purchaser's document is first duly recorded.³⁹

Yet under Utah legal precedent, vendor purchase money mortgages take priority over other mortgages, regardless of which deed records first. In *Kemp v. Zions First National Bank*, the Utah Supreme Court acknowledged this and wrote:

...a purchase money mortgage (plaintiffs' mortgage here), executed in connection with a conveyance of land, or in pursuance of an agreement, as part of a transaction, ordinarily takes preference over any other lien attaching through the financing of the transaction ([purchaser's] mortgage to Zions); and further, more specifically, that, "Where the contest is between a purchase money mortgage to a third person who advances part of the purchase price [Zions Bank] and a purchase money mortgage to the vendor [plaintiff] for the balance, the latter is given preference even if he had notice of the former."⁴⁰

In Colorado, which also has a race-notice statute, the Colorado Supreme Court wrote that, "even a third party who loans money to the purchaser that is applied to the purchase, and who takes back a mortgage on the purchased property, cannot acquire

³⁹ Utah Code Ann. § 57-3-103 (2010).

⁴⁰ *Kemp v. Zions First National Bank*, 470 P.2d 390, 393 (Utah 1970).

rights to the property from the purchaser unencumbered by the vendor's mortgage, regardless of the order in which the documents are signed."⁴¹

The only instrument that reprioritizes a vendor's purchase-money mortgage is a subordination agreement. In *Nelson v. Stoker*, the Utah Supreme Court held:

[I]f the purchaser of land, upon receiving a conveyance thereof, as part of the same transaction executes a mortgage to the vendor to secure a part or the whole of the purchase price, such mortgage... is entitled to priority over any preexisting claims... at least in the absence of an agreement between the parties subordinating the purchase money mortgage to other liens or claims.⁴²

In this case, on April 22, 2004, the Boecks created a vendor purchase-money mortgage to the Phalens and a third-party purchase-money mortgage to FFFC simultaneously. These were recorded on the same day at virtually the same time, as evidenced by their near sequential numbering.⁴³ Importantly, no subordination agreement was recorded and presumably, is nonexistent.⁴⁴ Therefore, as a matter of law, the Phalen Trust Deed is the first priority deed on the Property.

C. Despite Wells Fargo's foreclosure, the Phalen Trust Deed still encumbers the property and is unforeclosed.

The Phalen Trust Deed is valid because it cannot be foreclosed by a subordinate lien.

In *Dunlap v. Stichting Mayflower Mountain*, the Utah Court of Appeals reiterated long held law that a junior lien cannot foreclose a senior lien:

⁴¹ *ALH Holding Co. v. Bank of Telluride*, 18 P.3d 742, 745 (Colo. 2000).

⁴² *Nelson v. Stoker*, 669 P.2d 390, 394 (Utah 1983).

⁴³ R. 000080 at ¶ 6 & 8; R. 000171.

⁴⁴ R. 000080 at EXHIBIT K.

...most importantly, a mortgage foreclosure action can only affect the interests of a mortgagor and others who hold subsequent and inferior interests to the mortgagee.⁴⁵

In this case, Wells Fargo foreclosed on the Property on June 14, 2005. Yet as established above and as a matter of law, the Phalen Trust Deed is the senior lien upon the property and has been since the Phalen-Boeck sale. Therefore, the Phalen Trust Deed is unaffected by Wells Fargo's foreclosure. The Phalen Trust Deed remains valid and in effect, and the trial court erred in not granting Insight's *in rem* foreclosure.

D. A balance upon the Phalen Trust Deed is owed and due.

The Boecks never made any payment towards the Vendor Trust Deed; they are in default. A principal balance of \$17,600, plus interest, costs and attorney fees is due.

E. A de facto subordination agreement is no subordination at all.

Farias concedes that no instrument shows the Phalens agreed to subordinate their trust deed to FFFC, and no subordination agreement was ever executed or recorded on title. Yet he argues that some understanding existed between the parties and created a *de facto* subordination agreement. This argument is factually and legally deficient.

Because there was never any agreement – first there was no meeting of the minds between the Phalens and FFFC; second, the parties never exchanged consideration; and third an unwritten agreement is barred by the Statute of Frauds – Farias cannot establish subordination.

⁴⁵ *Dunlap v. Stichting Mayflower Mountain*, 2003 UT App 283, ¶ 15, 76 P.3d 711.

1. *The Phalens may have erroneously thought they were in a junior lien position to FFFC, but they never entered into any such agreement.*

A valid agreement to subordinate requires an offer and acceptance – or a “meeting of the minds” regarding terms – and consideration; the agreement must be between the vendor(s) and the third party financier.⁴⁶ Absent a “meeting of the minds” between these parties, no subordination agreement exists. In this case, no subordination agreement exists and Farias cannot demonstrate one through weak parole evidence.

In this case, FFFC and the Phalens never communicated with each other, either in writing or verbally. This was undisputed by Farias.

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