2011

# Insight Assets, Inc. v. Homero Farias : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

RESTATEMENT (THIRD) PROPERTY, MORTGAGES, § 7.2 (emphasis added). The comments to the section further clarify the interplay between recording acts and the Purchase Money Rule. For example, if both the vendor and the third-party lender have notice of the other's mortgage, the vendor's mortgage will be superior to its third party counterpart, in the absence of any intent or agreement between the two as to the priority of their respective interests. *See id.* at cmt. d. In such a case, "the recording acts do not vary this result, since the great majority of states [including Utah] they award priority only to a subsequent purchaser *without notice*, and here each mortgagee has notice of the other." *Id.* By extension, the BFP defense would not apply to a third party lender in such a situation because he has actual notice of the seller's mortgage.

Likewise, the vendor will also prevail where both he and the third-party lender lack notice of the other's mortgage. The rationale for this result is that the recording acts will not vary this result "since they operate to award priority only to a *subsequent*



purchaser without notice, and here neither mortgagee can meaningfully be said to be subsequent to the other, since both mortgages arise from the same transaction.” *Id.*

Finally, the Restatement holds that “where only one of the parties has notice of the other, the recording acts, rather than [the Purchase Money Rule], should govern and award priority to the party lacking notice. . . .” *Id.* This is exactly the result this Court reached in *Kemp*. See *Kemp*, 470 P.2d at 393 (holding that the Purchase Money Rule did not apply to Zions Bank, a third-party mortgagee, where it had no actual or constructive notice of the vendor’s trust deed).

In short, the Purchase Money Rule only applies to give preference to a vendor purchase money mortgagee over a third-party purchase money mortgagee where (i) the third-party lender and vendor know of each other’s mortgage and do not have an intent or agreement regarding the priority of their respective interests, (ii) the vendor purchase money mortgagee is unaware of the third-party lender’s mortgage, and the third-party mortgagee knows of the vendor’s purchase money mortgage, or (iii) where neither of the lender’s know of each other’s mortgage. The rationale for favoring the vendor in these instances has been stated as follows:

Nevertheless, the equities favor the vendor. Not only does the vendor part with specific real estate rather than money, but the vendor would never relinquish it at all except on the understanding that the vendor will be able to use it to satisfy the obligation to pay the price. This is the case even though the vendor may know that the mortgagor is going to finance the transaction in part by borrowing from a third party and giving a mortgage to secure that obligation. In the final analysis, the law is more sympathetic to the vendor’s hazard of losing real estate previously owned than to the third party lender’s risk of being unable to collect from an interest in the real estate that never previously belonged to it.

RESTATEMENT (THIRD) PROPERTY, MORTGAGES, § 7.2, cmt. 6.

For these reasons, Insight Assets is wrong in arguing that the Purchase Money Rule operates to the exclusion of the recording acts and the BFP Defense, and to the detriment of subsequent parties relying on the order in which documents are recorded.

**C. The District Court Correctly Determined that Farias Took the Property Free of any Claim by Insight Assets Under the Phalen Trust Deed.**

This case originates from a transaction occurring in 2004. At that time, the Boecks and the Phalens entered into an agreement whereby the Boecks agreed to purchase the Property from the Phalens [R. 374-84.] The Boecks' purchase of the Property was financed through third-party financing from FFFC, and seller financing provided by the Phalens [R. 374.] Both financings were secured by trust deeds – the Phalen Trust Deed and the FFFC Trust Deed. The FFFC Trust Deed was recorded prior to the Phalen Trust Deed [R. 386-402; 345-48.] The Boecks subsequently defaulted on their loan with FFFC, and a foreclosure occurred under the FFFC Trust Deed. [R. 326-27.] Since that time, the Property has been conveyed to four different parties -- Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., TTR Holdings, LLC, Alan H. Reisert, and finally to Farias. [R. 327.]

Under Utah law, at the time of the foreclosure under the FFFC Trust Deed and the execution by the trustee of the Trustee's Deed conveying the property to Wells Fargo, all junior encumbrances and were extinguished. Specifically, Utah Code Annotated Section 57-1-27 provides in part:

(3) The trustee's deed shall operate to convey to the purchaser, without right of redemption, the trustee's title and all right, title,

interest, and claim of the trustor and the trustor's successors in interest and of all persons claiming by, through, or under them, in and to the property sold, including all right, title, interest, and claim in and to the property acquired by the trustor or the trustor's successors in interest subsequent to the execution of the trust deed, which trustee's deed shall be considered effective and relate back to the time of the sale.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 57-1-27 (2011). This is consistent with the common law, which holds that a foreclosure by a senior trust deed or lien will foreclose and extinguish the liens arising from any junior and subordinate instruments. *See gen. City Consumer Services, Inc. v. Peters*, 815 P.2d 234 (Utah 1991); *Randall v. Valley Title*, 681 P.2d 219 (Utah 1984). Consequently, when Farias acquired the Property, the recorded documents showed a foreclosure under the earlier-recorded FFFC Trust Deed which extinguished the Phalen Trust Deed.

This dispute arose when Insight Assets purportedly obtained an assignment of the Phalen Trust Deed, and claimed it was not extinguished by foreclosure of the FFFC Trust Deed because it was actually senior in priority to the FFFC Trust Deed by virtue of application of the Purchase Money Rule. Farias, however, is protected from such off-record claim as a bona fide purchaser. As stated above, to qualify as a bona fide purchaser, Farias must establish (1) he acquired an interest in the Property, (2) in good faith, and (3) recorded his interest first. *See Haik*, 2011 UT 26 at ¶ 13 (*citing* UTAH CODE ANN. § 57-3-103).

1. Farias Acquired the Property for Value.

At the time Farias acquired the Property, he did so for value. *See* Declaration of Homero Farias, ¶ 2 [R. 450.] Insight Assets does not dispute that Farias acquired the Property for value, and thus this element of the BFP Defense is satisfied.

2. Farias did not have Actual Knowledge of the Phalen Trust Deed and any Claim that it Remained an Encumbrance on the Property.

At the time he acquired the Property, Farias had no knowledge of the existence of the Phalen Trust Deed, including any claim that it continued to encumber the Property. *See* Declaration of Homero Farias, ¶¶ 4-6 [R. 450.] Farias therefore had no “actual notice” of the Phalen Trust Deed, and Insight Assets’ claim that it continued to encumber the Property.

In an attempt to refute this evidence, Insight Assets argues that Equity Title Insurance (“Equity”), the purported issuer of Farias’ title insurance policy, was allegedly an agent of both Farias and First American Title Insurance Company (“FATCO”), that Equity conducted a title search, that FATCO knew about the Purchase Money Rule, and that this knowledge was somehow imputed through Equity to Farias. Appellant’s Brief, p. 30. Insight Assets failed to offer any evidence at the district court level, however, that Equity was either Farias or FATCO’s agent, that Equity conducted a title search, what the results of any such search were, or that it issued a title insurance policy to Farias.

Further, even if Insight Assets had shown that Equity was in fact Farias’ title insurer and conducted a title search revealing the prior recording of the Phalen Trust Deed, it still would not result in Equity’s knowledge being imputed to Farias. Any title

insurance policy Farias obtained in connection with his acquisition of the Property is simply a contract. *See e.g., Holmes Development, LLC v. Cook*, 2002 UT 38, ¶ 24, 48 P.3d 895 (“A title insurance policy, like other insurance policies, serves as a contract between the insurer and the insured....”); *see also Wallace v. Frontier Bank, N.A.*, 903 So. 2d 792, 801 (Ala. 2004) (holding that title insurance company is independent contractor and that insured exercises no supervision or control over them); *Lewis v. Superior Court*, 30 Cal.App.4th 1850, 1869 (1994) (holding that title insurance company is in business for profit and title insurance policy is the result of an arm’s length deal, in which there is no room for the operation of fiduciary relationships).

There is no Utah authority holding that an agency relationship arises between parties to a contract, and thus the knowledge of one is imputed to the other. Courts of other jurisdictions that have addressed the issue, however, have held that a title insurer’s knowledge is not imputed to the insured. “It is a ‘well-settled rule ... that a title insurance company is not the agent of its insured, and the insurer’s knowledge is not imputed to its insured.’” *See Lewis*, 30 Cal.App.4th at 1870 (holding as a matter of law that title insurer’s knowledge is not imputed to insured); *see also e.g., In re Marriage of Cloney*, 91 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 429, 438-39 (2001); *Wallace*, 903 So. 2d at 801; *Huntington v. Mila, Inc.*, 75 P.3d 354, 359 (Nev. 2003) (holding that lender was bona fide encumbrancer because title insurer’s knowledge could not be imputed to insured). As the *Lewis* court properly recognized, imputing the knowledge of a title insurer to its insured:

would be like imputing a car salesperson’s knowledge of defective brakes to an unsuspecting buyer, and then using that imputed knowledge to subject the buyer to liability for reckless conduct for driving a car with actual

knowledge that its brakes didn't work. Such a conclusion would be contrary to law, as well as to the most basic notions of fair play. It is no more appropriate here.

*Lewis*, 30 Cal.App.4th at 1870.

Because a title insurer is not the agent of its insured, its knowledge cannot be imputed to its insured. Thus, whatever knowledge any title insurance company had concerning the Purchase Money Rule and the state of the title, cannot be imputed to Farias. See *In re Marriage of Cloney*, 91 Cal.App. 4th 429, 438-39 (Cal.App.Ct. 2001).

Moreover, even if Equity were Farias' agent (there is also no proof FATCO was Farias' agent), the fact that FATCO was generally aware of the Purchase Money Rule would not give rise to actual knowledge that the Phalen Trust Deed allegedly remained an encumbrance on the Property and was not foreclosed out, simply because it was a purchase money mortgage. Insight Assets has failed to produce any evidence to dispute Farias' testimony that he had no knowledge of the Phalen Trust Deed and any claim it continued to encumber the Property.

4. Farias had no Constructive Record Notice of the Phalen Trust Deed and any Claim that it Remained an Encumbrance on the Property.

As a preliminary matter, the Phalen Trust Deed should be treated as an "unrecorded document" for purposes of Utah's recording statute in light of the foreclosure of the earlier-recorded FFFC Trust Deed. This is similar to this Court's treatment of a recorded trust deed in *Diversified Equities, Inc. v. American Sav. & Loan Assn.*, 739 P.2d 1133 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). In *Diversified*, a lender was a beneficiary of a recorded trust deed, and a deed of reconveyance regarding said trust deed was later

recorded, which the lender claimed occurred through error or mistake. *See id.* at 1134-1135. Prior to the lender's recording an affidavit regarding the alleged error, subsequent purchasers acquired the property without knowledge of the lender's claim of an improvidently recorded deed of reconveyance, and thus were unaware of the lender's claim that the trust deed still encumbered the property. *See id.* Even though the lender's trust deed was recorded, and thus subsequent purchasers had constructive record notice of it, this Court treated it as "unrecorded" for purposes of the recording statute, because absent the lender's "off-record" claim of mistake or error in recording the deed of reconveyance, the deed of reconveyance would have extinguished the trust deed. *See id.* at 1136, fn. 3. Likewise, in this case, but for Insight Assets' claim that the Purchase Money Rule applies to the Phalen Trust Deed, the Phalen Trust Deed would have been extinguished in the foreclosure of the FFFC Trust Deed, and thus the Phalen Trust Deed should be treated as an "unrecorded document" for purposes of Farias' BFP Defense.<sup>3</sup>

Regarding "notice," Farias had no "actual notice" the Phalen Trust Deed continued to encumber the Property. Without such actual notice or knowledge, as a matter of law, Farias was not on "inquiry notice" of the trust deed's continued existence as a lien on the Property. *See Haik*, 2011 UT 26 at ¶ 13 (*quoting J.B. Ranch, Inc.*, 966 P.2d at 838). Accordingly, the only issue remaining to determine if Farias is protected by the BFP Defense against Insight Assets' claim is whether the Warranty Deed from the Phalens to

---

<sup>3</sup> Even if the Court were to narrowly construe the BFP defense under Section 57-3-103 as not applying to "off-record" claims regarding recorded documents, such as the claim Insight Assets now brings, the common law bona fide purchaser for value defense would still protect Farias against "adverse claims" and "other's outstanding rights." *See Baldwin*, 850 P.2d at 1197-98.

the Boecks, the FFFC Trust Deed, and/or the Phalen Trust Deed put Farias on constructive record notice that the Phalen Trust Deed was not extinguished by foreclosure of the FFFC Trust Deed because the Purchase Money Rule elevated it in priority ahead of the FFFCT Trust Deed. For this to occur, the recorded documents would have to establish all of the following:

- The Phalen Trust Deed actually secured “purchase money” and therefore was a purchase money mortgage.
- The knowledge of FFFC and the Phalens regarding each other’s trust deeds. Specifically, for Insight Assets to prevail, the recorded documents must show that either FFFC knew of the Phalen Trust Deed *or* both FFFC and the Phalens were unaware of each other’s trust deeds. Stated differently, the Purchase Money Rule would not apply if FFFC did not know of the Phalen Trust Deed, but the Phalens knew of the FFFC Trust Deed;
- If FFFC and the Phalens did in fact have knowledge of each other’s trust deeds, the recorded documents must show an absence of an intent or agreement by FFFC and the Phalens as to the priority of their respective purchase money mortgages; and
- The circumstances and equities of the transaction warrant a court applying the rule.

*See Nelson*, 669 P.2d at 394; *Kemp*, 470 P.2d at 393; RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROPERTY (MORTGAGES), § 7.2. There simply is nothing contained in the recorded documents that provides constructive notice to Farias of all of the foregoing, such that he would be on notice that the Phalen Trust Deed remained a lien on the Property, and was not extinguished by the foreclosure of the FFFC Trust Deed, because it enjoyed priority under the Purchase Money Rule (despite being recorded in a second position).



a. Purchase Money.

The Purchase Money Rule applies to purchase money mortgages, which by definition are mortgages (or trust deeds) that secure purchase money. Consequently, the Warranty Deed and/or Phalen Trust Deed would have to provide constructive notice to Farias that the Phalen Trust Deed secured purchase money. There simply is nothing in these documents, however, establishing that the Phalen Trust Deed secured purchase money. The only possible way Farias could determine if it did secure money would be through further inquiry outside the record – something Utah does not require. *See Haik*, 2011 UT 26 at ¶ 13.

b. Knowledge of the Phalens and FFFC

The Purchase Money Rule only applies where the recording statute by its terms does not, which requires an inquiry into the knowledge of FFFC and the Phalens. Specifically, if the Phalens knew of the FFFC Trust Deed, but FFFC was unaware of the Phalen Trust Deed, the recording act would apply to the exclusion of the Purchase Money Rule. *See Kemp*, 470 P.2d at 393. There is nothing in the Warranty Deed, the FFFC Trust Deed, or the Phalen Trust Deed that gives any insight as to whether FFFC was aware of the Phalen Trust Deed. Insight Assets argues for the first time on appeal, however, that FFFC is “deemed” to know of the Phalen Trust Deed because US Title acted as trustee under both trust deeds, and its knowledge is imputed to FFFC. Appellant’s Brief, pgs. 19-20. Because Insight Assets failed to make this argument below, it cannot raise it for the first time on appeal. *See Monson v. Carver*, 928 P.2d 1017, 1022 (Utah 1996). At the district court level, Insight Assets argued that FFFC had

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